ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000574

MAUNWELL ERVIN,

RESPONDENT,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

OCT 27 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 9, 2010, officers from the Greenwood Drug Enforcement Unit and the Greenwood Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) team executed a search warrant on a Lawson Street residence in Greenwood. App. p. 419. The SWAT team entered through the front door and upon entering the residence, officers located an individual, in the living room, ultimately identified as a Mr. Bush. App. p. 419. Ervin was found in the hallway of the residence. Both Ervin and Mr. Bush were detained and placed in handcuffs. App. p. 419. During the search, officers found marijuana, pills, cocaine, and a firearm throughout the residence. App. p. 419.

During the March 2011 term, the Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted Ervin for trafficking in cocaine base, 100 to 200 grams (2011-GS-24-785), trafficking in cocaine base within proximity of a school or park (2011-GS-24-786), possession of marijuana with intent to distribute (2011-GS-24-783), possession with intent to distribute marijuana within proximity of a school or park (2011-GS-24-784), possession of a controlled substance (2013-GS-24-293), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-24-0708). Lauren Taylor, Esquire (Plea Counsel), represented Ervin. Deputy Solicitor Yates Brown of the Eighth Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case.

In January 2013, Ervin first went to trial on these charges. At the conclusion of this first trial, Ervin was acquitted on the possession of a firearm charge, and the jury was unable to reach a verdict on the remaining charges.

On July 23-24, 2013, Ervin proceeded to a jury trial on the remaining charges: trafficking in cocaine base (2011-GS-24-785), trafficking in cocaine base within proximity of a school or park (2011-GS-24-786), possession of marijuana with intent to distribute (2011-GS-24-783), possession of marijuana with the intent to distribute within proximity of a school or park (2011-

GS-24-784), and possession of a controlled substance (2013-GS-24-293)¹. The jury convicted Ervin of possession of a controlled substance, possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, and the possession of marijuana with intent to distribute within proximity of a school or park. The jury was unable to reach a verdict as to the trafficking in cocaine base and trafficking in cocaine within proximity of a school or park charges.

Ervin appealed and represented by Appellate Defender Robert Pachak, who filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Ervin's appeal. State v. Ervin, 2014-UP-427 (filed November 26, 2014). The Remittitur was issued December 12, 2014.

On April 11, 2016, Ervin appeared before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and pled guilty to the lesser included offense of trafficking in cocaine (28-100 grams, 2nd offense). Pursuant to the prosecution's recommendation, Judge Griffith sentenced Ervin to the mandatory minimum seven years imprisonment. The trafficking proximity charge (2011-GS-24-786) was dismissed. Ervin did not file a notice of appeal.

On June 27, 2017, Ervin filed a PCR application, alleging:

1. "Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a double jeopardy argument."
2. "Trial Counsel was ineffective in that she continued to represent me after I had filed a request that she be terminated as my attorney and after I had filed a Post-Conviction Relief action alleging she was ineffective in representing me at my trial."

The State subsequently filed a Return and Motion to Dismiss, asserting Ervin's application was barred by the statute of limitations. A hearing was held on March 2, 2018, before the

¹ Ervin also filed a post-conviction relief action challenging his trial convictions and, following a hearing before Judge Hayes, was also granted post-conviction relief for these convictions. The State appealed, this Court granted certiorari, and this action is pending before this Court. (Ervin v. State, Appellate Case No. 2020-000530).

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Ervin was represented by C. Rauch Wise, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Justin J. Hunter. By Order dated August 27, 2018, and filed September 13, 2018, Judge Hayes found Ervin's PCR application was not barred by the statute of limitations, and found that Ervin was entitled to a new trial on the basis that Plea Counsel failed to file a motion to dismiss Ervin's remaining charges based on double jeopardy².

The State filed a timely Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. A hearing on the State's motion was held on October 1, 2019. Counsel C. Rauch Wise, Esquire, again represented Ervin. Assistant Attorney General Janelle Gregory argued on behalf of the State. By Order dated February 14, 2020, Judge Hayes denied the State's motion to reconsider. The State subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing post-conviction relief decisions, the standard of review depends on the specific issue involved. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Appellate courts will uphold a PCR court's findings of fact if there is any probative evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). However, appellate courts give no deference to the PCR court's conclusions of law and reviews those conclusions de novo. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

² Additionally, although the PCR court's order solely discusses the alleged conflict of interest in its statute of limitations section, it is arguable whether the PCR court granted relief on the merits of the alleged conflict.

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court erred in failing to find the PCR application was procedurally barred because it was untimely filed and the discovery of preexisting law does not constitute new facts under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45 (C). Ervin was aware that he filed a PCR application alleging counsel was ineffective at trial, so the alleged conflict that was not an actual conflict of interest also fails to constitute new facts under section 17-27-45.**

The PCR court incorrectly found that Ervin's PCR application was not barred by the statute of limitations because of Counsel's alleged conflict arising out of Ervin's pending PCR action challenging his conviction in his previous trial, and because that alleged conflict purportedly prevented Ervin from discovering a double jeopardy defense pursuant to Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110 (2009). Simply put, there is no nexus between the PCR application Ervin filed and Counsel's professional determination that Yeager does not apply. More specifically, the PCR court found, pursuant to S.C. Code §17-27-45(C), Ervin's PCR application was not untimely because Plea Counsel's alleged conflict and Yeager defense constituted newly discovered evidence. However, the PCR court's finding was incorrect as Ervin's application was filed beyond the standard one year statute of limitations, and neither the alleged conflict nor the alleged Yeager defense constitute newly discovered facts relieving Ervin from the application of the general one-year statute of limitations. Accordingly, this Court should find the PCR court erred by finding Ervin's PCR application was timely and find Ervin's PCR application is barred by the statute of limitations.

Generally, an application for relief filed must be filed within one year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision on appeal, whichever is later. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(A). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(B), if an applicant's conviction is affected by a change in a legal standard or constitutional right that applies retroactively, an application may

be filed not later than one year from the date on which the standard or right was determined to exist. This section is not applicable. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(C), if the applicant contends that there is evidence of material facts not previously presented and heard that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence, the application must be filed within one year after the date of the actual discovery of the facts by the applicant or after the date when the facts could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence. Additionally, the statute of limitations may be equitably tolled in certain instances, none applicable in the instant case, such as, when an applicant untimely files his application due to mental incompetency³, if the applicant asserts an applicant was denied his right to a direct appeal⁴, and if the applicant is alleging he is entitled to a belated PCR appeal⁵.

Ervin pled guilty to a lesser-included trafficking in cocaine offense on April 11, 2016, and therefore, his application must have been filed on or before April 12, 2017, in order to comply with the standard one-year statute of limitations pursuant to S.C. Code §17-27-45(A). However, Ervin filed his PCR application on June 27, 2017, beyond the standard one-year statute of limitations. Ervin did not allege, nor did the PCR court find, that Ervin was entitled to equitable tolling pursuant to Ferguson, Austin, Wilson, or under any other grounds. Additionally, Ervin did not allege, nor did the PCR court find, that Ervin's PCR action was timely pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(B).

The PCR court found Ervin's PCR application was not untimely because Counsel's alleged conflict and the Yeager claim constituted newly discovered evidence pursuant to S.C. Code §17-27-45(C). The PCR court erred in its finding, as neither the alleged conflict nor the Yeager claim

³ Ferguson v. State, 382 S.C. 615, 677 S.E.2d 600 (2009).

⁴ Wilson v. State, 348 S.C. 215, 559 S.E.2d 581 (2002).

⁵ Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991).

constitute newly discovered evidence allowing Ervin to avoid the generally applicable statute of limitations that runs from the date of the conviction and sentence.

First, the record clearly establishes Ervin knew he filed a PCR application alleging counsel was ineffective; therefore, the alleged conflict was known and not a basis to find Ervin's PCR application was timely. Counsel testified at the PCR hearing she filed a motion to be relieved because the solicitor indicated that he was planning on trying the case for a third time. App. pp. 479-481. Ervin also filed a motion to relieve Counsel. App. p. 481. Counsel testified Ervin did not inquire as to the status of his motion to be relieved, and instead asked Counsel questions about his case. App. p. 481. Additionally, Plea Counsel testified Ervin did not indicate he was concerned about her continuing to represent him on the day of his plea. App. p. 481. Ervin was aware of the purported conflict at the time of his plea, so his allegation is untimely pursuant to section 17-27-45 and not based on the discovery of new facts under section 17-27-45(C).

Moreover, Ervin's plea colloquy serves as an implicit waiver of the conflict, and therefore, the PCR court erred in using this alleged conflict as a basis for its finding that Ervin's application was timely filed. Ervin informed the plea court he was pleading freely and voluntarily.⁶ App. p. 423, lines 21-23. Ervin testified at his guilty plea hearing that he was satisfied with Counsel's services, and he had enough time to speak with Counsel regarding his case. App. p. 423, lines 15-20.

"[R]epresentations of the defendant, his lawyer, and the prosecutor at . . . a [guilty plea] hearing, as well as any findings made by the judge accepting the plea, constitutes a formidable

⁶ Ervin also confirmed at his plea hearing that he had not consumed drugs or alcohol within twenty-four hours prior to his guilty plea hearing and he did not suffer from any mental, physical, or emotional disabilities that would have prevented him from understanding what was occurring at his guilty plea hearing, thereby negating any possibility that he did not comprehend the questions he was being asked by the plea court. App. p. 418.

barrier in any subsequent collateral proceedings.” Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977). Such “[s]olemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity” and “subsequent presentation of conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to summary dismissal, as are contentions that in the face of the record are wholly incredible.” Id. at 74.

Ervin pled guilty fully aware he filed a PCR application, yet he nevertheless pled guilty after affirming his satisfaction with counsel. Accordingly, Ervin implicitly waived any complaints concerning counsel’s continued representation, and therefore, the PCR court erred in using this alleged conflict as a basis to determine Ervin’s PCR application was timely filed.

Furthermore, for the reasons discussed below in Part II of this petition, the alleged double jeopardy defense is not a meritorious claim, and therefore, it fails to provide a basis for Ervin to overcome the statute of limitations. Accordingly, the PCR court erred in finding that Ervin’s PCR application was not barred by the statute of limitations, and therefore, this Court should grant this Petition and reverse the PCR court’s erroneous findings as it relates to the statute of limitations.

II. Counsel reasonably ascertained that no double jeopardy violation occurred and the PCR court’s finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a double jeopardy violation is controlled by an error of law. Further, no conflict of interest arose from Respondent filing a PCR application against the State alleging counsel was ineffective at the prior trial because counsel still owed a duty of loyalty solely to Applicant for the remaining charges to which the jury was unable to reach a verdict.

In its Order granting relief, the PCR court found counsel was ineffective for allowing Ervin to plead guilty to trafficking instead of challenging the Solicitor’s ability to prosecute for the trafficking charge on the theory jeopardy attached pursuant to Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110 (2009).

“A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing 1) that counsel’s representation fell below an objective

standard of reasonableness and 2) that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial." Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C.158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997); accord Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

Plea counsel is "strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 22 (2013) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984)). The burden to show counsel's performance was deficient lies "squarely" on the applicant. Id. at 22-23.

To show prejudice, the applicant is required to show that the deficiency would have affected counsel's advice to accept the plea bargain or cause applicant to decline accepting the bargain. See Stalk v. State, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E.2d 592 (2009) (quoting Hill, supra and discussing the prejudice prong). This requires more than the bare assertion that "but for" the deficiency, applicant would not have pled guilty and gone to trial. Id., 383 S.C. at 563, 681 S.E.2d at 594-595.

The Fourth Circuit has recognized that determining prejudice is an objective inquiry depending "on the likely outcome of a trial had the defendant not pleaded guilty." Meyer v. Banker, 506 F.3d 358, 369 (4th Cir. 2007); see Hooper v. Garraghty, 845 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir. 1988) (noting despite focus on a subjective inquiry in Lockhart's prejudice standard, the answer to the prejudice inquiry "must be reached through an objective analysis.").

Ervin was acquitted of possession of a weapon during a violent crime and a mistrial was granted for the remaining charges because the jury could not reach a verdict. After the second trial, in which Ervin was convicted of the marijuana charges, but a mistrial was granted on the trafficking charges again due to a hung jury, Counsel received an e-mail from Charles Grose, Esquire, asserting she should move to dismiss the hung trafficking charge under Yeager v. United

States, 557 U.S. 110 (2009). Counsel testified she discussed the issue and the application of Yeager with other attorneys, and she reached the conclusion Yeager was not applicable to the instant case. App. p. 461, lines 16-25; p. 481, line 20 - p. 482, line 5.

In Yeager, the defendant, an Enron executive, was indicted for over a hundred charges related to fraud and insider trading. The defendant was acquitted of what the Supreme Court categorized as the fraud charges, but the jury was hung on the remaining counts, referred to in the opinion as the insider trading counts. The government obtained a new indictment recharging the defendant with some of the insider trading counts, which alleged the defendant failed to disclose the information that was the subject of the fraud charges to the public before selling his company stock. Yeager at 115. Because the defendant was acquitted of the fraud that was necessary to finding the defendant had insider information when he sold his company stock, the Supreme Court found the double jeopardy clause precluded prosecution for the insider trading counts. Id. at 116.

Acquittal of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime⁷ did not mean Yeager prohibited prosecution for trafficking. “To decipher what a jury has necessarily decided [for double jeopardy purposes], we held that courts should ‘examine the record of a prior proceeding, take into account the pleadings, evidence, charge, and other relevant matter, and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration.’” Yeager at 120.

In the instant case, examining the evidence at trial, law enforcement executed a search warrant of a home being leased by Ervin, but Ervin and another individual occupied the home at the time of the search. Various quantities of contraband were found in different areas of the

⁷ The PCR court’s order erroneously refers to the charge as “possession of a firearm while engaged in a drug trafficking offense.”

residence such as the kitchen and a bedroom. The jury may have concluded the firearm did not belong to Ervin but various drugs did. This is supported by the very fact that while enough cocaine in total was found in the home to convict Ervin of trafficking 100 to 200g outright, the jury was unable to reach a verdict for trafficking, evidencing potential doubts about which items belonged to which individual. Therefore, the jury likely held reasonable doubt with the State's evidence that Ervin constructively possessed the weapon.

Or, even if the jury was convinced Ervin constructively possessed the weapon, the jury may have felt the prosecution failed to prove a nexus between possession of the weapon and the narcotics Ervin possessed. State v. Whitesides, 397 S.C. 313, 317, 725 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2012) (finding the statute only penalizes possession of a firearm if "possession furthers or is intended to further a violent crime."). "The General Assembly's purpose would not be furthered by penalizing possession of a firearm that is entirely unrelated to the violent offense." Id. at 318, 319, 725 S.E.2d at 489, 490 (concluding in that case that the trial court "found a sufficient nexus from evidence that appellant ordinarily carried a pistol for the purpose of letting others know that he was armed while dealing drugs.").

The Court of Appeals examined Yeager in State v. Henley, 428 S.C. 649, 837 S.E.2d 639 (Ct. App. 2019). In that case, Henley claimed his acquittal for larceny precluded retrial for first degree burglary, in which the jury could not reach a unanimous verdict. The Court of Appeals, analyzing Yeager, concluded, "[A]n acquittal for larceny did not foreclose any element necessary for a first degree burglary conviction." Id. at 659-60.

Like Henley, in the present case, acquittal for the weapons charge did not foreclose any element necessary for trafficking. Possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime requires proof of the possession of a firearm **while** committing a violent crime. S.C. Code

Ann. § 16-23-490 (A); Whitesides. Trafficking crack cocaine **does not require proof of the possession of a firearm**. The statute for trafficking crack cocaine reads as follows:

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