RECEIVED

Dec 29 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**CERTIORARI - PCR- GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Hon. J. Mark Hayes, II, Post-Conviction Relief Judge**

Appellant Case No. 2020-000574

Maunwell Ervin, Jr. No 3566337 Respondent,

vs.

The State Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
S.C. BAR NO: 6811
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com**

Statement of Issues on Appeal

I. The PCR court erred in failing to find the PCR application was procedurally barred because it was untimely filed and the discovery of preexisting law does not constitute new facts under S.C. Code § 17-27-45(C). Ervin was aware that he filed a PCR application alleging counsel was ineffective at trial, so the alleged conflict that was not an actual conflict also fails to constitute new facts under § 17-27-45

II. Counsel reasonably ascertained that no double jeopardy violation occurred and the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a double jeopardy violation is controlled by an error of law. Further, no conflict of interest arose from Respondent filing a PCR application against the State alleging counsel was ineffective a the prior trial because counsel still owed a duty of loyalty solely to Applicant for the remaining charges to which the jury was unable to reach a verdict.

Argument

Question I

The PCR court erred in failing to find the PCR application was procedurally barred because it was untimely filed and the discovery of preexisting law does not constitute new facts under S.C. Code § 17-27-45(C). Ervin was aware that he filed a PCR application alleging counsel was ineffective at trial, so the alleged conflict that was not an actual conflict also fails to constitute new facts under § 17-27-45¹

S. C. Code § 17-27-45 requires that the Post Conviction Relief petition be filed “within one year after entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision upon an appeal, whichever is later.” As no appeal was taken in this case, the statute of limitation would normally have begun to run on the date Mr. Ervin entered his guilty plea. The Statute as to Post Conviction Relief Potions has an exception. It provides “(C) If the applicant contends that there is evidence of material facts not previously presented and heard that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence, the application must be filed under this chapter within one year after the date of actual discovery of the facts by the applicant or after the date when the facts could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence.”

Mr. Ervin filed his petition within one year of the time he learned of the material facts that would afford him a valid Post Conviction Relief action. He based his Post Conviction Relief Petition upon the failure of plea counsel in this case to assert a valid and complete defense. An

¹ For the ease of the reader in following the issues, Respondent has used the same issues stated by the Petitioner.

analysis of the other pending Post Conviction Relief action is necessary to fully understand the issues in this case. Mr. Ervin was originally indicted for the charges of possession of a firearm while engaged in a drug trafficking offense, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, possession with intent to distribute marijuana within proximity of a school, trafficking crack cocaine, trafficking crack cocaine within proximity of a school and possession of Benzylpiperazine.

The first trial was held in January of 2013. At that trial Mr. Ervin was found not guilty of possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime. The Indictment specifies the violent crime as “trafficking in crack cocaine.” App. at 571. The jury was unable to reach a verdict on all the remaining charges. A second trial was held in July of the same year. This trial resulted in Mr. Ervin being convicted of possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, possession of marijuana with intent to distribute within proximity of a school, and possession of Benzylpiperazine. The jury was, again, unable to reach a verdict on the trafficking crack cocaine and proximity charges. Mr. Ervin took an appeal from these convictions, which were affirmed on November 26, 2014. The remittitur was sent on December 12, 2014.

On November 30, 2015, Mr. Ervin filed his first Post Conviction Relief Petition on the charges for which he was convicted by depositing it in the mail of the South Carolina Department of Correction. At the time of his plea in this matter, his first Post Conviction Relief Petition had been pending for more than four months. He had also filed a Motion to have his counsel relieved which was admitted as an exhibit in Post Conviction Relief Petition hearing. His plea counsel, who was also his trial counsel at the two 2013 trials, acknowledged that she had received the Motion to have her relieved as counsel. She further confirmed that the State

was also aware that Mr. Ervin had filed an ineffective assistance of counsel claim against her and a Motion to have her relieved. Notwithstanding these facts, the plea judge was never informed of this conflict and there was no attempt to obtain a waiver from Mr. Ervin. Simply put, from the testimony no one made the plea judge aware of this obvious conflict.

This Court has said, “An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are averse to the defendants.” *State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). In that case, trial counsel representing Mr. Gregory was also representing the assistant solicitor prosecuting the case in his divorce action. The Court said, “In this case, we find Gregory’s attorney had an actual conflict because he placed himself in a ‘situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties’ by simultaneously representing Gregory and the assistant solicitor who was handling his criminal case. Given the actual conflict, Gregory is not required to demonstrate prejudice.” *Id.* at 154, 612 S.E.2d at 451.

In this case, there was divided loyalty. Mr. Ervin had filed an action saying his lawyer was not competent in his prior representation. He was seeking a new trial in that action. He further had filed a Motion requesting his plea counsel be dismissed. This Motion had not been heard. At the time of his plea in this matter the motion had been pending for almost exactly one full year. By not raising any defense and entering the plea, the plea lawyer mooted his first PCR as very little time would be reduced if he were successful in the first PCR. Thus, his plea counsel had an incentive to protect herself and to eliminate any benefit to an ineffective assistant of counsel claim.

The due process clause of Article I, §12 of the Constitution of the State South Carolina and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of American should

afford relief to Mr. Ervin either independently or in interpreting the South Carolina Post Conviction Relief Statute. The due process issue arose in a unique way in *Steele v. Kehoe*, 724 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998), approved, 747 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1999). Mr. Steele sued his attorney in a civil suit for malpractice for failing to file a timely post conviction relief action. His civil suit was dismissed below. In affirming the dismissal of the suit, the Court granted Mr. Steele the right to file an action for post conviction relief. As the Court said, “If a defendant can prove that he was improperly convicted, he should be set free. If he is denied the opportunity to offer such proof because of the malpractice of his lawyer, fundamental due process requires that he have a remedy that will address his future incarceration and not merely compensate him for improperly staying in prison.” *Id.* at 1193-1194. The same principle applies here. Mr. Ervin was not aware of a valid defense because of the conflict of his lawyer and because she did not advise him of the defense even though she was aware of the defense. The conflict in this case is such that no reasonable judge would have taken a plea in this case had the judge known all the facts. The failure to inform the judge of the conflict is the fault of defense counsel and the State. By not raising this defense and entering the plea, the lawyer virtually mooted Mr. Ervin’s first PCR, as very little time would be reduced if he were successful in the first PCR.

The other part of the code section requires that it be information that the applicant could not have learned by the exercise of reasonable diligence. The failure of a non lawyer to know of a valid legal defense, especially an inmate in the Department of Corrections, is not one of the things that he can be expected to learn through reasonable diligence. In fact, his plea counsel, who had been informed of the defense, did not raise it. Mr. Ervin could not be held to a higher standard. In *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2012) this Court held that a

successive PCR should not summarily be dismissed as the applicant showed a valid reason as to why he filed his second petition about four years after his conviction. In that case, the petitioner filed his petition based upon his discovery, some four years later, that one of the jurors on his case had a cousin who was married to the Seventh Circuit Solicitor. He learned this from reading the transcript of the trial of a fellow inmate that had occurred shortly after his trial. The relationship came up during the jury selection of the fellow inmate. Learning of a valid defense to a charge is at least equal to learning of a relationship between a cousin of the juror and the solicitor.

South Carolina has recognized that a structural error requires reversal of a conviction even without prejudice. *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 247, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (“Essentially, an error is structural if it is the type of error which transcends the criminal process.”)(citations omitted). In this case, the conflict plea counsel had with her client is the equivalent of a structural error. Because of the obvious conflict, Mr. Ervin had the equivalent of no objective counsel to advise him of the valid defense. Failure to provide counsel is a structural error. *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 468, (1997). S. C. Code § 17-27-20 (A4) provides as a ground for granting a Post Conviction Relief Petition that is not timely filed “That there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice.” When such a basic structural error occurs in a trial or plea, the interest of justice should, and does, require that the issue be addressed. The facts of this case also come under this provision. The Post Conviction Relief judge made a factual finding that the ends of justice require that Mr. Ervin be granted relief. The record adequately supports this factual finding.

The State was fully aware that Mr. Ervin had a clear conflict with his plea counsel. The State took no action to obtain a waiver of this conflict or to bring it to the attention of the plea judge. Mr. Ervin had filed a “Motion for Relief of Counsel” on April 30, 2015. No action had been taken on that motion at the time of the plea. Common sense and fairness would dictate that a lawyer who has an active PCR petition pending against them by their client should not be representing the client unless a waiver is obtained on the record. This was not done in this case. Mr. Ervin has the right to have as his counsel an attorney who is free from a conflict with him. That did not happen in this case. These facts are certainly one of those fact situations where a sentence should be set aside “in the interest of justice.”

As noted previously, S. C. Code § 17-27-45 (C) requires that a Post Conviction Relief Petition be filed within one year of the applicant learning of the facts that would entitle him to post conviction relief. In this case, Mr. Ervin did not learn of the double jeopardy defense until May 26, 2017. At that point Mr. Ervin knew his lawyer did not raise a very meritorious defense of which she had knowledge. This PCR was filed about a month after he acquired this knowledge. In addition, the PCR application is timely filed because the due process clause would require that a plea entered by an attorney with an obvious conflict cannot be permitted to stand. This Court has also recognized that a guilty plea does not waive a double jeopardy defense unless it is specifically placed on the record and waived. *Jivers v. State*, 304 S.C. 556, 406 S.E.2d 154 (1991). *See also, Kelly v. State*, 274 S.C. 613, 615–16, 266 S.E.2d 417, 418 (1980) (“The trial court found defense counsel’s representation competent and a ‘conscious and calculated decision’ to accept the State’s offer and waive appellant’s double jeopardy claim.”)

Question II

Counsel reasonably ascertained that no double jeopardy violation occurred and the PCR court's finding that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a double jeopardy violation is controlled by an error of law. Further, no conflict of interest arose from Respondent filling a PCR application against the State alleging counsel was ineffective at the prior trial because counsel still owed a duty of loyalty solely to Applicant for the remaining charges to which the jury was unable to reach a verdict.

In this case, under the rule established in *Yeager v. United States*, 557 U.S. 110 (2009), Mr. Ervin has a complete defense to the drug trafficking charge. His plea counsel at the hearing acknowledged that she had received an email from Charles Grose, a lawyer in Greenwood, who had followed the case. App. at 506. This email was sent shortly after the first trial informing her that she had a substantial argument under the double jeopardy rule established in *Yeager*. She admitted receiving the email. She did not file a motion to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds prior to the second trial or prior to her client entering a plea. She did not recall discussing this issue with Mr. Ervin. App. at 462, ll 12 - 15.

The State has asserted several theories as to how Mr. Ervin could be found not guilty of the possession of a firearm charge while engaged in a violent crime and still not have been acquitted on the trafficking of crack cocaine charge. This approach was specifically rejected by the United States Supreme Court in *Yeager*. The Court said, "Such conjecture about possible reasons for a jury's failure to reach a decision should play no part in assessing the legal consequences of a unanimous verdict that the jurors did return." *Id.* at 122. In concluding, the Court said, "[T]he fact that a jury hangs is evidence of nothing - other than, of course, that it has

failed to decide anything. By relying on hung counts to question the basis of the jury's verdict, the Government violates the very assumption of rationality it invokes for support." *Id.* at 125.

In *Yeager*, the defendant went to trial on several counts as did Mr. Ervin in this case. The jury acquitted Mr. Yeager on one count and was unable to reach a verdict on the remaining counts, just as happened in the January trial of Mr. Ervin. The Supreme Court stated the issue as follows: "The question presented in this case is whether an apparent inconsistency between a jury's verdict of acquittal on some counts and its failure to return a verdict on other counts affects the preclusive force of the acquittals under the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment. We hold that it does not." *Id.* at 112. Under the *Yeager* analysis, the charges upon which the jury was unable to reach a verdict are treated as "nonevents." As a nonevent, the counts upon which the jury hung are of no consideration in determining the issue preclusion aspect of the Double Jeopardy clause. As the Supreme Court said "To ascribe meaning to a hung jury count would presume an ability to identify which factor was at play in the jury room. But that is not reasoned analysis; it is guesswork." *Id.* at 2368.

In this case, the State, in the indictment, made the trafficking in crack cocaine an element of the gun charge. App. at 571. The jury acquitted Mr. Ervin on the charge of possession of a firearm while engaged in a drug trafficking offense. App. at 572. The firearm, just as the drugs, was found in the house rented by Mr. Ervin. As the jury, by its verdict, found Mr. Ervin not guilty of the firearm charge, that would include being found not guilty of the trafficking in crack cocaine. Thus, the State is precluded from trying Mr. Ervin again for the trafficking charge and related proximity charge. The possession of marijuana with intent to distribute and the proximity charges were not elements of the firearm charge and therefore are not impacted by the acquittal

of the firearm charge.

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